L ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Does Revenue and Taxation Code section 11911 authorize a county to
impose a documentary transfer tax based on a change in ownership or control

of a legal entity that directly or indirectly holds title to real property?

II. INTRODUCTION

Revenue and Taxation Code section 119111—a part of the
Documentary Transfer Tax Act of 1967 (“DTTA”)—authorizes counties and
cities to impose a documentary transfer tax “on each deed, instrument, or
writing by which any lands, tenements, or other realty sold ... [are] granted,
assigned, transferred or otherwise conveyed to ... [a] purchaser or purchasers,
or any other person or persons, by his or their direction ... .”

Although this tax has always been limited to writings that convey
realty, the Court of Appeal below transformed section 11911 into a tax on the
conveyance of interests in légal entities if they indirectly (or directly) own
realty. To do so, the court erroneously relied on concepts embodied in statutes
found in a different division of the Revenue and Taxation Code, which
postdated the DTTA by more than a decade, and which were enacted for an
entirely different purpose.

In this case, trusts established for a mother, Gloria Averbook,

transferred 90 percent of their interests in a partnership, BA Realty LLLP

1 All statutory references are to the Revenue and Taxation Code unless
otherwise specified.



(“BA Realty”), to two trusts that she had created for her sons, Bruce and Allen
Averbook. BA Realty did not hold title to any realty and instead owned a
limited liability company, 926 North Ardmore Avenue LL.C (“Ardmore”),
which, in turn, held title to an apartment building bearing that same address in
Los Angeles (the “Property”). Title to the Property never changed, and
BA Realty remained the owner of the limited liability company that owned the
Property. Thus, there was no “deed ... or wri‘ting ... by which any ... realty
sold [was] ... conveyed to ... [a] purchaser,” upon which a documentary
transfer tax could be imposed. (§ 11911.)

Nevertheless, the Court ’('y)f Appeal upheld the County’s imposition of
such a tax on Ardmore, which had never transferred its Property. The court
held that under the DTTA, counties are “permitted to impose a documentary
transfer tax based on the transfer of more than 50% of the interest in a
partnership that was the sole member of an LLC that held title to realty.” (926
North Ardmore Avenue, LLC v. County of Los Angeles (2014), slip opn., p. 7.)
To reach that conclusion, the Court of Appeal construed “realty sold” under

999

section 11911 “to have the same meaning as ‘change of ownership’” under the
statutes implementing Proposition 13 (id. at pp. 22, 30), although those
statutes are found in a different division of the Revenue and Taxation Code,
concern a different kind of tax, and have a different purpose.

Specifically, the Court of Appeal relied on section 64, which triggers a

reappraisal of the value of property upon a “change of ownership” for



purposes of assessing the annual property tax due under Proposition 13. That
trigger serves a specific purpose relevant to Proposition 13: “In enacting
section 64, subdivision (c), the Legislature sought to avoid inequality between
the tax burden imposed on residential property due to its rapid turnover rate
and that borne by corporate property in view of its lower turnover rate” and
thus it established a trigger for more frequently reappraising corporate
property. (Twentieth Century Fox Film Corporationv. County of Los Angeles
(1990) 223 Cal.App.3d 1158, 1161 (Twentieth Century Fox).) Statutes
providing for a different kind of tax in a different division of the Revenue and
Taxation Code, enacted over a decade later usiqg different language for a
different purpose, cannot possibly shed light on the Legislature’s earlier intent
in enacting the DTTA. Indeed, it is ironic that a statute designed to implement
a constitutional measure that restricted taxes is being used to expand the taxes
authorized under the DTTA.

Correctly construed, section 11911 authorizes the imposition of a
documentary transfer tax only on documents that convey “realty sold” for the
following reasons:

First, the plain language of, and the past practice of applying,
section 11911 only permits a documentary transfer tax to be imposed on

A IN1S

documents that “gran[t], assig[n], transfe[r], or otherwise conve[y]” “realty
sold.” It does not authorize a tax on transfers of interests in legal entities

because they directly or indirectly own realty.



Second, “[blecause section 11911 was patterned after the former
[Federal Stamp A]ct and employs virtually identical language as that act,
[courts] must infer that the Legislature intended to perpetuate the federal
administrative interpretatioﬁs of that federal act.” (Thrifty Corp. v. County of
Los Angeles (1989) 210 Cal.App.3d 881, 884 tT hrifty).) Those federal
interpretations generally limited the tax to documents by which “realty [is]
sold” or to “agreement[s] to transfer [title]” to realty. (Berryv. Kavénagh (6th
Cir. 1943) 137 F.2d 574, 575-576 (Berry).) .

Third, the words bf a statute “must be construed in context, keeping in
mind the statutory purpose,” and “statutory sections relating to the same
subject must, to the extent possible, be harmonized.” (Long Beach Police
Officers Assn. v. City of Long Beach (1988) 46 Cal.3d 736, 746 (Long
| Beach).) Here, other statutory sections within the DTTA prohibit the tax from

9% 46

being levied on “any transfer of an interest in [a] paftnership [i]n the case of
any realty held by a partnership,” unless the partnership terminates, in which
case “the partnership ... shall be treated as having executed an instrument
whereby there was conveyed ... all realty held by the partnership.” (§ 11925,
subds. (a), (b).) This language reinforces the interpretation of the DTTA that
(1) the documentary transfer tax may not be levied on the transfer of an
interest in a partnership (as here) and (2) the triggering event for the levy is the

“execut[ion of] an instrument whereby there was conveyed ... realty held by

the partnership.” (§ 11925, subd. (b).) Elsewhere, the DTTA exempts from



the tax any state or political subdivision “when [an] exempt agency is
acquiring title” (§ 11922)—an exemption that again reinforces the general rule
that the document must convey the realty before the tax may be levied.

Fourth, if any ambiguity remains, it must “be resolved in favor of the
taxpayer” (here, Ardmore). (Agnew v. State Bd. of Equalization (1999) 21
Cal.4th 310, 326 (Agnew), superseded by statute on other grounds.) The Court
of Appeal did not even acknowledge, much less apply, this well-established
canon of statutory interpretation.

In sum, the plain language of the DTTA, as confirmed by the long-
standing interpretations of the federal Stamp Act on which it was patterned,
only authorizes the imposition of a tax “on each deed, instrument, or writing
by which any lands, tenements, or other realty sold ... [are] granted, assigned,
transferred or otherwise conveyed to ... [a] purchaser.” (§ 11911, subd. (a).)
Accordingly, the transfer of interests in a partnership that, in turn, owned a
company that, in turn, held realty—the title to which never changed—is not
subject to a documentary transfer tax. This Court should therefore reverse the
Court of Appeal’s decision, grant Ardmore’s request for a refund of the
documentary transfer tax already paid, and remand to allow the lower courts to

determine Ardmore’s right to attorneys’ fees and costs.



III. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND
A. Ownership Of The Property
1. Beryl And Gloria Averbook Establish A Family Trust

The roots of this case can be traced back to 1972, when Beryl Averbook
and his wife Gloria established a family trust that owned, among other assets,
an apartment building located at 926 North Ardmore Avenue (the “Property”
or “Apartment Building”). (Slip opn., p. 2.) Under the terms of that trust
(hefeinafter, the “Family Trust™), upon the death of either spouse, the trust
principal would be distributed to four subtrusts: the Survivor’s Trust, the
Bypass Trust, the Exempt Marital Trust, and the Nonexempt Marital Trust.
(1bid.)

2. Beryl Averbook Passes Away
Beryl passed away in April 2007, leéving Gloria as the beneficiary of

the Family Trust and subtrusts. (Slip opn., p. 2.) Gloria designated her two
sons, Bruce and Allen, as successor trustees of the Family Trust.

(BRT306:8-12; P1. Ex. 2.)
3. The Property Is Transferred To Ardmore

In August 2008, Bruce and Allen, in their capacity as trustees, created a
limited liability company, Ardmore, to “acquire, hold, manage and disposé of”
the Property. (Slip opn., p. 3.) The Family Trust was named as the sole

member of Ardmore. (/bid.)



The purpose of creating the LLC was to insulate the Averbooks’ other
assets from any liabilities that might arise from the operati(;n of the Apartment
Building. (3RT319:25-320:14, 324:12-325:2.)

On August 24, 2008, the Family Trust conveyed the Apartment

Building to Ardmore. (3RT317:21-318:22; P1. Ex. 19.)

4. The Family Trust Transfers Its Interest In Ardmore
To BA Realty

On that same day, the Family Trust conveyed its interest in Ardmore to
a Delaware limited liability limited partnership, BA Realty LLLP
(“BA Realty”). (3RT318:24-319:17; P1. Ex. 20.) The general partner of
BA Realty was BA Realty Management LLC, which was owned by the Family
Trust, and the Family Trust itself was the limited partner of BA Realty.
(B3RT316:10-22; P1. Ex. 17[GWP000592-599].) Bruce and Allen were named
as managers of BA Realty Management LLC. (3RT312:19-313:3; Pl. Ex. 12,
p.3.)

Thus, as of August 2008, the Family Trust owned BA Realty, which

owned Ardmore, which held title to the Property.

5. The Family Trust Distributes Its Interest In
BA Realty To The Four Subtrusts

On December 3, 2008, the Family Trust agreed to distribute its interest
in BA Realty to the four subtrusts: approximately 64.7% of its interest in BA
Realty was transferred to the Survivor’s Trust; 23.9% to the Nonexempt

Marital Trust; 9.8% to the Bypass Trust, and 0.6% to the Exempt Marital



Trust. (Seeslip opn., p. 3.) The remaining 1% interest in BA Realty was held
by BA Realty Management LLL.C. (3RT316:10-22; PL. Ex. 17 [GWP000593].)

On that same day, Gloria Averbook also established irrevocable trusts
for Allen and his issue, and Bruce and his issue (“Allen’s Trust” and “Bruce’s
Trust”). (Slip opn., p. 3.)

OnJanuary 1, 2009, the Survivor’s Trust transferred a 3.4587% interest
in BA Realty to Bruce’s Trust, and an equivalent 3.4587% interest to Allen’s
Trust. (3RT316:10-22; Pl. Ex. 17[GWP000598].)

B. The Transaction At Issue

On January 8, 2009, the transaction at issue occurred. Pursuant to the
“Master Limited Partner Transfer and Substitution Agreements” (the
“Agreements”), the Survivor’s Trust and the Marital Trusts sold their
combined remaining 83.1% interest in BA Realty to Bruce’s and Allen’s
Trusts. (Slip opn., p.3; 3RT351:20-25, 352:27-353:7, 353:20-354:3,
354:23-355:9, 357:5-19; Pl Exs. 32,33, 36,37.)

As Gloria’s son Allen explained at trial, the purpose of the transactions
was to provide estate-tax savings for Gloria, to provide sufficient liquidity to
cover the estate taxes that would eventually have to be paid, and to facilitate
the eventual disposition of the interests in BA Realty to Bruce’s and Allen’s
issue. (3RT324:12-327:28.)

Following this transaction, Bruce’s and Allen’s Trusts each held a

44.6% interest in BA Realty; the Bypass Trust held a 9.8% interest; and



BA Realty Management LLL.C continued to hold the remaining 1% general

partnership interest. (3RT370:15-27; PL. Ex. 59[GWP000643].)
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Neither the Agreements nor the other documents that facilitated the
transaction mentioned the Property held by Ardmore. (3RT353:20-357:19; P1.
Exs. 32-39.)

As required by title 18, section 462.180, subdivision (d)(2) of the
California Code of Regulations, Ardmore reported these transactions to the
State Board of Equalization through a “Statement of Change in Control and
Ownership of Legal Entities” (the “Statement”). (See slip opn., p. 3;
3RT375:6-17; PL. Ex. 64.) Such statements must be filed whenever a transfer

of interests in a legal entity results in a change in ownership of property within



the meaning of section 64, subdivisions (c) and (d), which address the
reappraisal of property under Proposition 13. (See §§ 480.1, 480.2.)

In its Statement, Ardmore reported three separate transactions: First,
that BA Realty had acquired a 100% interest in Ardmore from the Family
Trust on August 24, 2008—a non-taxable event since the Family Trust
retained control over the Property before and after the transaction; second, that
the Family Trust distributed its interests in BA Realty to the four subtrusts on
December 3, 2008—also a non-taxable event since Gloria was also the
beneficiary of the subtrusts; and third, that the Survivor’s Trust and two
Marital Trusts sold their interests in BA Realty to Bruce’s and Allen’s Trusts
on January 8, 2009. Ardmore did not take a position on whether those final
sales constituted a change in ownership under section 64, subdivision (c)

or (d). (3RT375:6-17; Pl. Ex. 64, p. 6.)

C. The County Demands Payment Of The Documentary
Transfer Tax.

In 2011, the Registrar-Recorder/County Clerk of the County of
Los Angeles sent a Notice and Demand to Ardmore for payment of the
documentary transfer tax, invoking both section 11911 and Los Angeles
County Code section 4.60.020. (Slip opn., p. 4; P1. Ex. 66.) The Notice was
based on the transfer of the “controlling interest in Ardmore” on January 8,
2009 (erroneously cited as “November 8, 2009”) (1CT6, 47), and the amounts

were assessed based on the value of the Property on that date.
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(3RT375:19-26; Pl. Ex. 65.) The Notice sought payment of $2,160.40 in
documentary transfer tax to the County and $8,838 to the City of Los Angeles.
(Slip opn., pp. 4-5; 3RT376:5-377:3; Pl. Ex. 66.)

D. Ardmore Files A Claim For A Refund

Ardmore paid the tax, and on October 14, 2011, filed a claim for a
refund. (10CT2222-2238.) Ardmore argued that no tax was due because the
subtrusts’ sale of their interests in BA Realty to Allen’s and Bruce’s Trusts did
not convey “realty” within the meaning of section 11911 or County Code
section 4.60.020. (Slip opn., p. 5.)

Ardmore also argued that the only provision in the Revenue and
Taxation Code that could have authorized a transfer tax—section 11925,
governing partnerships—did not apply. This provision would have authorized
a transfer tax only if BA Realty had terminated as a result of a change in
beneficial ownership. But Gloria—who retained the right pursuant to the trust
agreements to reécquire any property that she transferred to Allen’s and

Bruce’s Trusts and replace it with property of equal value—remained the legal

2 Section 11911, subdivision (b) authorizes a city within a county that has
authorized a documentary transfer tax to also impose its own documentary
transfer tax. The City of Los Angeles’s own ordinance was meant to
conform to the DTTA except for the tax rate. (City of Los Angeles Mun.
Code, art. 1.9, § 21.9.1.) A county may collect the city’s documentary
transfer tax on its behalf. (§ 5146.)
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and beneficial owner of Bruce and Allen’s Trusts and of the Survivor’s Trust.
(Slip opn., p. 5; 26 U.S.C. §§ 675(4), 676.)3

On December 14, 2011, the County rejected Ardmore’s claim. (Slip
opn., p. 5; 1CT7.)

E. Ardmore Files Its Refund Action

On January 10, 2012, Ardmore brought an action for a refund of the
documentary transfer tax collected by the County and the City, along with a
request for attorneys’ fees under Code of Civil Procedure section 1021.5.

(Slip opn., pp. 5-6.)4

3 Section 7.23 of Bruce’s and Allen’s Irrevocable Trust Agreements (see
3RT348:6-12, 349:2-9; Pl. Exs. 29[GWP000095], 30[GWP000032])
contains a provision authorizing Gloria, as the grantor, to “reserve the right
to reacquire [her] trust property by substituting other property of
equivalent value.” Section 7.3(b) of each Agreement further provided that
such powers were exercisable solely by Gloria without the approval or
consent of the trustees or other fiduciaries. (See ibid.) Under 26 U.S.C.
§ 675(4), a grantor of a trust (Gloria) “shall be treated as the owner” of the
trust where she retains the “power to reacquire the trust corpus ....”

4 Under section 5146, “[i]f ... any portion of the taxes sought to be
recovered were collected by officers of the county for a city ..., an action
must be brought against the county for recovery of those taxes.” But
notwithstanding section 5146, which also states that “whether or not a city
intervenes in [an] action, any judgment rendered for an assessee shall be
entered exclusively against the county,” the trial court refused to consider
Ardmore’s claim to a refund from the City. Accordingly, if this Court
agrees with Ardmore’s interpretation of section 11911, it should either
grant Ardmore’s refund request in full or remand for proceedings
consistent therewith.

12



Ardmore again argued that the documentary transfer tax could only be
imposed “on the sale of real property and not on the sale of legal entities,
except for sales of interests in partnerships holding real property that result in
the termination of the partnership.” (Slip opn., p. 5.) Ardmore alternatively
argued there was no “sale” of a controlling interest in BA Realty because
Gloria was treated as the legal and beneficial owner of the Survivor’s Trust
and Bruce’s and Allen’s Trusts. (/bid.; see footnote 3, ante.)

At trial, the County admitted that until its 2010 website posting, it had
never publicly taken the position that it would impose a documentary transfer
tax “on legal entity transfers where no document is recorded ....”
(B3RT435:7-436:21.) An Assistant Registrar-Recorder for the County testified
that before 2010, the County had no means of assessing the documentary
transfer tax on transfers of interests in legal entities that resulted in a “change
of ownership” of real property, because it did not have access to the
Statements of Change in Control and Ownership of Legal Entities filed with
the Board of Equalization. (Slip opn., pp. 6-7; 3RT436:25-437:2.) Once it
was permitted access to those records,” the County started demanding payment
of documentary transfer taxes whenever it was “advised by the assessor that

there was a controlling interest change or some kind of conveyance” under

section 64, subdivisions (¢) or (d). (Slip opn., pp. 6-7; 3RT450:2-23.)

5 See sections 408, 480.1, and 480.2; see also Section IV.D.2, post.

13



The County’s 2010 website posting explained:

The collection is made pursuant to Chapter 4.60 of the Los Angeles
County Code, and California Revenue and Taxation Code (‘RTC’)
sections 11911 and 11925, and is consistent with case law which

defines ‘realty sold’ as having the same meaning as changes in
ownership for property tax purposes in RTC section 64(c)(1).

(Slip opn., p. 6; 1CT6, 15.)

The trial court ruled in favor of the County, stating that the tax could be
based on the transfer of more than a 50% interest in BA Realty to Bruce’s and
Allen’s Trusts because Ardmore could be treated “as a ‘lower-tier entity’ of
the partnership” for purposes of the DTTA (8CT17 18), such that its property
“can be considered ... as the property of the [partnership] for documentary
transfer tax purposes.” (8CT1719-1720.)

The trial court also ruled that even if Ardmore had prevailed on the
merits, it would not be entitled to attorneys’ fees. (8CT1720.)

On March 8, 2013, the court entered a judgment of dismissal. (Slip

opn., p. 7.)

F. The Court Of Appeal Affirms The Trial Court’s Denial Of
A Refund

The Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court’s decision, concluding that
the transfer of interests in BA Realty to Allen’s and Bruce’s Trusts on January
8, 2009 were subject to a documentary transfer tax because “section 11911
permits a documentary transfer tax when a transfer of interest in a legal entity
results in a ‘change of ownership’ within the meaning of Revenue and

Taxation Code section 64, subdivision (c) or (d).” (Slip opn., p. 2.)
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The Court of Appeal acknowledged that the DTTA “‘replace[d] and
was patterned after the [portion] of the Federal Stamp Act [applying] to
conveyances’” of real property. (Slip opn., p. 10, quoting Thrifty, supra, 210
Cal.App.3d at p. 884.) But the court disagreed that its “interpretation of
section 11911 is dependent only on federal laws that expired over 45 years
ago” because “[t]he state DTTA includes no language requiring that it be
construed in the same manner as the federal statute it was designed to
replace.” (Slip opn., p. 26.) Instead, the court held that the phrase “‘realty

(113

sold’” in section 11911 was “‘sufficiently similar’” to the definition of

“‘change in ownership’” in section 64, subdivisions (c) and (d) that the two

(131

should have “‘the same meaning.”” (Id. at p. 22.)

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