**CASE NO.: S222329** 

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

926 NORTH ARDMORE AVENUE, LLC, Plaintiff and Appellant,

SUPREME COURT FILED

v.

COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES,

JUL - 7 2015

Defendant and Respondent.

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

After a Decision of the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division Seven, on Appeal from the Superior Court for the County of Los Angeles, The Honorable Rita Miller, Judge Presiding Trial Court Case No. BC 476670 Court of Appeal Case No. B248356

#### ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

MARY C. WICKHAM, Interim County Counsel
\*ALBERT RAMSEYER, Principal Deputy County Counsel
State Bar No. 131570
648 Kenneth Hahn Hall of Administration

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

## VI. Argument

A. The Economic Substance of Plaintiff's Transaction was a Transfer of Realty for Consideration by Means of a Writing Requiring the Payment of a DTT.

The DTT is an excise tax on the privilege of conveying real property by means of a written instrument. In contrast to a property tax, an excise tax is a tax "imposed on certain of the privileges of ownership, but not on all of them." (*Douglas Aircraft Company, Inc. v. Johnson* (1939) 13 Cal.2d 545, 551.) Unlike a property tax which is assessed against property on a fixed date, an excise tax is an event tax that results in liability "... only when the property is conveyed; the transferor and transferee become jointly

and severally liable for the tax upon delivery of the instrument of transfer. . .." (Huntington Beach v. Superior Court (1978) 78 Cal.App.3d 333, 340.)

The DTT is not a recording fee, and applies even if the transferring document is not recorded. (*Berry v. Kavanagh* (6<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1943) 137 F.2d 574, 575-576; *Raccoon Development Inc. v. United States* (Ct.Cl. 1968) 391 F.2d 610, 613; *Fielder v. City of Los Angeles* (1993) 14 Cal.App.4th 137, 145.)

The question posed is whether the writings entered into on January 2009, resulting in the change in ownership of BA Realty, reflected a sale of realty for consideration requiring the payment of the DTT. The tax is not imposed on the *subject matter* of lands, tenements, or other realty but on the *conveyance* by deed or other written instrument. (*Jones v. Magruder* (1941) 42 F.Supp. 193, 199.) The term conveyance is synonymous with transfer. (Civ. Code § 1039.) "... [I]n legal jargon a change in ownership, terminating rights and other relations in one entity and creating them in another, is the essence of 'transfer'. (*U.S. v. Niagara Hudson Power Corp.* (1944) 53 F.Supp. 796, citing *Hudson Power Corp. v. Hoey* (2d Cir. 1941) 117 F.2d 414, 416.) A conveyance is the voluntary transferring of a right or property. (*Thompson v. U.S.* (2011) 101 Fed. Cl. 416, 427, fn. 14; citing Black's Law Dictionary.)

In the facts presented here, BA Realty incurred a change in ownership. A legal requirement concurrent with the transfer was the

payment of a documentary transfer tax. Plaintiff denies that a tax is due, and the issue requires an interpretation of Revenue and Taxation Code section 11911, and its statutory context.

Our fundamental task ... is to determine the Legislature's intent so as to effectuate the law's purpose. We first examine the statutory language, giving it a plain and commonsense meaning. We do not examine that language in isolation, but in the context of the statutory framework as a whole in order to determine its scope and purpose and to harmonize the various parts of the enactment. If the language is clear, courts must generally follow its plain meaning unless a literal interpretation would result in absurd consequences the Legislature did not intend. If the statutory language permits more than one reasonable interpretation, courts may consider other aids, such as the statute's purpose, legislative history, and public policy. [Citations.]" (Coalition of Concerned Communities, Inc. v. City of Los Angeles (2004) 34 Cal.4th 733, 737.)

Plaintiff contends that the BA Realty transaction did not result in a transfer of realty, but instead implicated only a transfer of ownership

interests in a legal entity. It argues that based upon statutory canons, 'a word takes meaning from the company that it keeps', and that the proper scope of section 11911 is limited to transactions that result in "a change to legal title in real property." (*Grafton Partners v. Superior Court* (2005) 36 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 944; Petitioner's Opening Brief, p. 29.) Plaintiff bolsters this argument with the observation that ownership interests in a legal entity are personal property, suggesting by inference that a transfer of personalty, such as membership interests in a partnership, cannot be the basis for a DTT, because it is not "land, tenements, or other realty." (Petitioner's Brief on the Merits, p. 24, fn. 6.)

There are multiple problems with this assertion. The meaning of the phrase "land, tenements, or other realty" has been long recognized as ambiguous. (*Jones v. Magruder* (1941) 42 F.Supp. 193, 199.) Plaintiff's approach, grounded on statutory canons, does not square with the DTT's application to long term leases. Under California law, a lease is a chattel real, and not realty. (*Auerbach v. AAB No.* 1 (2006) 39 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 153, 162-163.) In addition, a lease does not convey title to real property. (*San Pedro etc. R.R. Co. v. Hamilton* (1911) 161 Cal. 610, 617, 621.)

Similarly, the predecessor to section 11911, 28 USC § 4361 was challenged on the basis that a "carved out [oil] production payment" was not a transfer of "land, tenements, or other realty", upon which a DTT is owed. (*Texaco v. U.S.* (1980, 5<sup>th</sup> Cir.) 624 F.2d 20.) Plaintiff's argument

was "that a carved-out production payment is an interest of limited duration that is excluded from the Treasury Regulation's definition of "realty." The "permanent" interests in land in this case [...] are Texaco's oil and gas leaseholds; although the assigned production payments have been carved out of these leaseholds, their duration must be viewed as "limited" because they are defined by dollar or production amounts." (*Id.*, p. 21-22.)

The Texaco Court disagreed, ruling that "the "bundle of rights" represented by a carved-out production payment closely approximates the bundle of rights represented by a mineral leasehold and that a carved-out production payment must be considered realty as well. (Id.) In sum, a court will look to the substance of a transaction to determine its DTT consequences. The emphasis in this area is on practicalities. (Cf., *Raybestos-Manhattan, Inc. v. US* (1935) 296 U.S. 60, 63 ["... The reach of a taxing act whose purpose is as obvious as the present is not to be restricted by technical refinements."]

The pending case concerns the transfer of membership interests of a legal entity, and the question of whether a change in control of the entity triggers a DTT liability. Notwithstanding Plaintiff's resort to statutory canons, it is apparent that the Legislature intended partnerships, LLCs, and other entities to bear a DTT assessment upon transfer. (§ 11925.) Plaintiff says that the predecessor of this statute, 28 USC § 4383, was intended to provide a practical basis for applying the DTT to partnerships where

theoretically any transfer of a partnership interest could arguably be the basis for a DTT assessment pursuant to the aggregate theory of partnerships. (1 CT 149-150.)

The California Legislature provided in enacting Section 11925, however, for the reassessment of a partnership upon its constructive termination. Section 11925 was later amended in 1999, to make clear that it pertains to "any partnership or **other entity** treated as a partnership." The Legislature has expressly instructed that the constructive termination concept applies to both partnerships and LLCs.

Plaintiff's premise is that the scope of the DTT is limited to conveyances of title to realty. California law provides, however, that a partner does not co-own partnership property and has no interest in partnership property that can be transferred. (Corp. Code § 16501.) A partner's only transferable interest in the partnership is the right to receive distributions and this interest is personal property. (Corp. Code § 16502.) In light of these provisions, and the legislative direction in section 11925, it is apparent that the scope of the DTT extends to transactions beyond those directly resulting in the transfer of realty. The Legislature intended the scope of section 11911 to extend to property that could indirectly result in the transfer of the beneficial ownership of property, such as by a long term lease, or by the transfer of the membership interests in a partnership.

In the pending case, the subject real estate is owned by Plaintiff, and it in turn is wholly owned by BA Realty. BA Realty changed ownership on 2009. The sales price of the transaction was established by appraisal. (Exhibits 42 and 43.) The purchasers executed transfer agreements, took out purchase money financing, signed promissory notes, and entered into security agreements. The purchasers and also provided guaranties of repayment. In every outward appearance, the BA Realty transaction resulted in a transfer of the beneficial ownership of its assets. The beneficial ownership of the real estate owned by Plaintiff were included in the purchased assets. (See e.g., trial exhibit 43: "... The properties owned through BA Realty's 100% equity interest in 5118 De Longpre Avenue, LLC, 926 N. Ardmore Avenue, LLC, 450 S. La Fayette Park Place, LLC and 6519 Springpark Avenue, LLC are considered to be direct real estate interests because the intervening entities are essentially pass-through entities and BA Realty has full control of their underlying properties. . . . " (Id., p. 20; the value of these assets were established by appraisal. (Exhibit 43, p. 3; Exhibit 42.)

The County's tax administrator reasonably decided to levy a DTT assessment in view of these facts.

# B. The Court of Appeal Properly Considered Case Law, Legislative History, and Public Policy, in Deciding Plaintiff's Tax Refund Claim.

Once established that a statute is ambiguous, a court may look to legislative history and public policy to interpret its meaning. The phrase "lands, tenements, or other realty" is of uncertain meaning and requires interpretation.

In *Thrifty Corp. v. County of Los Angeles* (1989) 210 Cal.App.3d 881, it was determined that intent behind section 11911 was to "generally place leases outside of the scope of section 11911." (*Id.*, p. 884.) Former federal law, however, could be a basis for interpreting the Legislature's apparent intent. Former federal law provided that "a lease was subject to a transfer tax when it was of sufficient duration to approximate an interest such as an estate in fee simple or a life estate." (*Id.*, p. 885.)

The *Thrifty* Court turned to the California property tax change in ownership statutes as legislative guidance in defining the term of an assessable leasehold for purposes of the DTTA. The Court held that the phrase "realty sold" is sufficiently similar to the phrase "change in ownership" to warrant that "each phrase be defined to have the same meaning." The warrant for that determination is that each statute calls for a reassessment upon transfer. For the DTTA, the relevant trigger is a sale of realty ("realty sold"), while for property tax the reassessable event is a change in ownership. (Rev. & Tax. Code §§ 60; 67.) Apart from the

DTTA's requirement that a reassessable transfer take place for consideration, both tax schemes set as the criterion for reassessment, "acquisition value." (Cf., Amador Valley Joint Unified Sch. Dist. v. State Bd. of Equalization (1978) 22 Cal.3d 208, 235.)

The *Thrifty* Court appropriately considered decisional law and public policy in determining that long-term leases are subject to the DTTA. It cites affirmatively the observation in *Gottschalk* that if long-term leases were not subject to reassessment, a large loophole would be created and that this would likely be contrary to the electorate's intent. (*E. Gottschalk v. County of Merced* (1987) 196 Cal.App.3d 1378, 1385.)

Unlike in *Thrifty*, where the issue concerned a leasehold – a property interest not at all addressed in the DTTA – the pending issue concerns a transfer of partnership interests. The DTTA expressly provides for a reassessment upon the constructive termination of a partnership. (§ 11925.) The *Ardmore* Court looked to analogous property tax law for guidance in applying the DTTA to a transfer of interests in a legal entity. It held:

... the history of the DTTA and the overall structure of the Revenue and Taxation Code indicate the Legislature generally intended the documentary tax to apply when there has been a sale, memorialized in writing, that results in a transfer of realty. Interpreting the term "realty sold" to

include the "change of ownership" provisions applicable to legal entities promotes this purpose by capturing most forms of legal entity transfers that result in a change in the beneficial ownership of the property.

(Slip opn., p. 22.)

The Court reasonably determined than an administrator of the DTT may look to property tax change in ownership provisions as guidance in applying the DTTA to legal entity transfers. Long standing decisional law has stood for the point that the property tax law is analogous to the DTTA. (*Thrifty, supra*, a grant of a leasehold of more that 35 years duration is deemed realty for the purposes of the DTTA. [Compare Civil Code section 765, with Rev. & Tax. Code section 104].)

The fact that the Legislature has acquiesced in the *Thrifty* decision and indeed has provided tax administrators with enforcement tools to identify legal entity change in ownership transactions is a strong indication that it intended such transfers reflecting a change in ownership of realty to be assessed. If defies logic that the Legislature would provide DTT tax administrators the means to identify unrecorded legal entity transactions were its intention that such transactions not be subject to a documentary transfer tax assessment.

The *Ardmore* Court further notes that public policy considerations support its holding:

Ardmore's proposed interpretation would, however, work at cross-purposes, effectively permitting property owners to avoid the transfer tax by conveying their real property to a wholly owned, single-entity LLC established for the sole purpose of holding the property, and then selling the LLC (rather than the property) to a third party. Although Ardmore has thoroughly briefed this case, it has never identified any policy reason that would support imposition of a transfer tax when realty is transferred through a direct sale, but not when realty is transferred through the sale of an LLC established solely to hold the realty. We believe the Legislature has signaled—both through the acts it has taken and the acts it has not—that the transfer tax should be interpreted to apply under both circumstances, and in any other circumstance where a transfer in legal entity interests results in a change of ownership within the meaning section 64, subject to the express limitations set forth in section 11925.

(Slip opn., p. 31.)

The Court's consideration of public policy is particularly appropriate in the context of a tax statute of first impression:

reasonable interpretation" (Hoechst Celanese Corp. v. Franchise Tax Bd. (2001) 25 Cal.4th 508, 519), it is regarded as ambiguous and there is no plain meaning. Where more than one reasonable interpretation is possible, courts must select the construction that comports most closely with the apparent intent of the Legislature, with a view to promoting rather than defeating the general purpose of the statute.

(Honchariw v. County of Stanislaus [(2011) 200 Cal.App.4th 1066] at p. 1073.)

Courts determine the apparent intent of the Legislature by reading the ambiguous language in light of the statutory scheme rather than reading it in isolation. (*Lungren v. Deukmejian* (1988) 45 Cal.3d 727, 735.) In other words, the ambiguous language must be construed in context, and provisions relating to the same subject matter must be harmonized to the extent possible. (*Ibid.*) In addition, courts may determine the apparent intent of the Legislature by evaluating a variety of extrinsic aids, including the ostensible

objects to be achieved by the statute, the evils to be remedied, the statute's legislative history, and public policy. (*Honchariw* v. County of Stanislaus, supra, 200 Cal.App.4th at p. 1073.)

The DTTA's "realty sold", and Proposition 13's "change in ownership" are substantially similar concepts. It is reasonable to conclude that the Legislature intended that they be given the same construction.

(Estate of Griswold (2001) 25 Cal. 4th 904, 915-916.) The DTTA provides for the assessment of a DTT upon "realty sold." It is apparent that the Legislature intended to provide tax administrators the tools to assess DTT to unrecorded legal entity changes in ownership, and "all powers and duties incidental and necessary to make such legislation effective are included by implication." (Clay v. City of Los Angeles (1971) 21 Cal.App.3d 577, 585 [citing Sutherland, Statutory Construction, section 5402].)

# C. Section 11925 provides an Alternative Basis for Liability

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